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x 

Re: JOHN KIKES 
x 

LORETTA A. PRESKA, U.S.D.J. 

The Independent Review Board ("IRB") of the International 

Brotherhood of Teamsters ("IBT") has applied to this Court 

("Application No. 121")^ for a ruling that the IBT's October 18, 

2005 findings with respect to John Kikes ("Kikes") are not 

inadequate. The Court has reviewed Application No. 121, the 

objections filed by Kikes, and the Government's papers in 

support of the Application. For the reasons set forth below, 

the IRB's Application is granted, and its determination is 

upheld in all respects. 

'"Application No. 121" refers to "Application 121 of the 
Independent Review Board - In the Matter of John Kikes," filed 
on March 1, 2006. 



BACKGROUND 

I. Charge and IBT Panel Hearing 

Kikes is the former International Representative and IBT 

Local 78 President. (IBT Decision at 1-2.)^ He was charged with 

bringing reproach upon the IBT and violating his membership oath 

in violation of Article II, Section 2(a) and Article XIX, 

Sections 7(b)(1) and (2) of the IBT Constitution and Paragraph 

E(10) of the Consent Decree by engaging in prohibited contact 

with William T. Hogan Jr. ("Hogan") after Hogan was permanently 

barred from the IBT on May 29, 2002. (Id.) 

The IRB referred the charge against Kikes to the IBT on 

July 14, 2005. (Id. at 1.) An IBT panel conducted a hearing on 

September 15-16, 2005 (the "September Hearing"). (Id.) On 

October 20, 2005, IBT General President James P. Hoffa adopted 

the decision of the IBT panel (i) holding that Kikes had 

violated the IBT Constitution and the Consent Decree by 

knowingly associating with Hogan after Hogan was permanently 

barred from the IBT; and (ii) recommending that Kikes be 

permanently barred from the IBT (the "IBT Decision"). (See 

generally Hoffa Ltr. at 1; see also IBT Decision.)^ 

^ "IBT Decision" refers to the IBT hearing panel's "Findings of 
Fact and Recommendations," attached as part of Ex. B to 
Application No. 121, filed on March 1, 2006. 

^ "Hoffa Ltr." refers to the letter from James P. Hoffa to John 
(continued on next page) 
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II. Appeal and IRB Review 

The Consent Decree provides that the IRB shall monitor 

disciplinary actions taken by any IBT entity on IRB-recommended 

charges to determine whether the charges were "pursued and 

decided" by that IBT entity "in a lawful, responsible, or timely 

manner" and whether the resolution of those charges is 

"inadequate under the circumstances." (Consent Decree G(f); 

see also IRB Rules % 1(7).)^ By letter dated November 3, 2005, 

counsel for Kikes notified the IRB that Kikes wished to appeal 

the IBT Decision. (Baptiste Ltr. at l.p Briefing by both Kikes 

and the Office of the Chief Investigator followed and was fully 

submitted to the IRB by December 20, 2005. (See generally 

Application 121, Exs. C-1.) By letter dated January 18, 2006, 

(continued from previous page) 
Kikes "Re: Article XIX Charges" dated October 20, 2005 and 
attached as part of Ex. B. to Application No. 121, filed on 
March 1, 2006. 

^ "Consent Decree" refers to the "Order" of Judge Edelstein filed 
on March 14, 1989, Dkt. No. 88 Civ. 4486 (DNE). "IRB Rules" 
refers to the "Rules and Procedures for Operation of the 
Independent Review Board for the International Brotherhood of 
Teamsters," annexed to the Consent Decree. 

^ "Baptiste Ltr." refers to the letter from Robert Baptiste "Re: 
IRB Referral of Charges Against John Kikes" dated November 3, 
2005. 
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the IRB found the IBT Decision "not inadequate." (IRB Ltr. at 

III. Judicial Review and Application No. 121 

Although the Consent Decree contains no express procedure 

by which a union member disciplined by an IBT entity on IRB-

recommended charges may appeal such a "not inadequate" 

determination to this Court, the IRB has followed a practice of 

facilitating judicial review of its "not inadequate" 

determinations when a charged party demonstrates his intention 

to seek review of a "not inadequate" finding." See Sombrotto v. 

IBT, No. 01 Civ. 9285, 2003 WL 252156, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 3, 

2003) ("This Court may also review IRB determinations that union 

discipline is ^not adequate' when requested by the IRB."); see 

also United States v. Boggia, 167 F.3d 113 (2d Cir. 1999) 

(upholding district court's affirmance of IRB "not inadequate" 

determination). Accordingly, on March 1, 2006, the IRB 

submitted Application No. 121 to this Court, by which the IRB 

requested that the Court adopt as an order of the Court the 

IRB's determination that the IBT handling of the charges 

^ "IRB Ltr." refers to the letter from the IRB to James P. Hoffa 
"Re: Decision on Charges Against International Representative 
and Local 78 President John Kikes" dated January 18, 2006 and 
attached as Ex. H to Application No. 121, filed on March 1, 
2006. 
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recommended by the IRB was "not inadequate." (See generally 

Application No. 121.) On May 30, 2006, Kikes submitted a 

memorandum containing objections to the Application. (See 

generally Kikes Br.)' On June 13, 2006, the Government submitted 

the Chief Investigator's Memorandum supporting the Application. 

(See generally Chief Investigator Br.)^ On July 14, 2006, by way 

of letter, the Government submitted its own memorandum in 

support of Application No. 121. (See generally Gov't Ltr.)^ On 

September 6, 2006, Kikes submitted a reply to the Government's 

memoranda. (See generally Kikes Reply Br.)^° 

DISCUSSION 

I. Standard of Review 

The standards governing review of IRB disciplinary 

decisions are well established. This Court reviews 

^ "Kikes Br." refers to Kikes' "Objections of Respondent John 
Kikes to Application No. 121 of the Independent Review Board," 
filed on May 30, 2006. 

^ "Chief Investigator Br." refers to the Government's "Chief 
Investigator's Memorandum of Law in Support of the Independent 
Review Board's Application 121 - In the Matter of John Kikes," 
filed on June 13, 2006. 

^ "Gov't Ltr." refers to the Government's letter to the Court 
"Re: United States v. IBT, 88 Civ. 4486 (LAP), IRB Application 
121 (John Kikes)" dated July 14, 2006 and received on July 17, 
2006. 

^ "Kikes Reply Br." refers to Kikes' "Reply Brief in Support of 
John Kikes' Objections to Application No. 121 of the Independent 
Review Board," filed on September 6, 2006. 
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determinations made by the IRB under an "extremely deferential 

standard of review." United States v. IBT ("Carey & Hamilton"), 

247 F.3d 370, 379 (2d Cir. 2001). The IRB Rules, which were 

approved by this Court and the Court of Appeals, provide for 

review of decisions of the IRB under "the standard of review 

applicable to review of final federal agency action under the 

Administrative Procedure Act." (IRB Rules 1 0.) See United 

States v. IBT ("IRB Rules"), 803 F. Supp. 761 (S.D.N.Y. 1992), 

aff'd as modified, 998 F.2d 1101 (2d Cir. 1993). Under this 

extremely deferential standard, an IRB decision may be set aside 

only if it is "arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or 

otherwise not in accordance with law." Carey & Hamilton, 247 

F.3d at 380 (quoting 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A)). 

II. Application to the IRB's "Not Inadequate" Determination 

Applying these standards, this Court finds that the IRB 

acted within its discretion when it upheld the IBT Decision 

permanently expelling Kikes for knowingly associating with 

Hogan. Sufficient evidence, including Kikes' own admissions, 

established that Kikes knowingly associated with barred member 

Hogan. The Court also finds that Kikes has not established that 

the September Hearing violated the Labor-Management Reporting 
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and Disclosure Act of 1959 ("LMRDA"), 29 U.S.C. § 411.^ 

Therefore, the IRB did not act arbitrarily and capriciously in 

upholding the IBT Decision. 

A. Kikes Does Not Dispute That He Knowingly Associated With 
Hogan Following Hogan's May 2002 Expulsion from the Union 

The Consent Decree forbids IBT officers, representatives, 

employees, and members from knowingly associating with a member 

or associate of organized crime or "any person otherwise 

enjoined from participating in union affairs." (Consent Decree 

TT E(10).) See also United States v. IBT ("Carey and Hamilton 

Discipline"), 22 F. Supp. 2d 135, 144 (S.D.N.Y. 1998), aff'd, 

247 F.3d 370, 390 (2d Cir. 2001). "Prohibited knowing 

association . . . is established when contact is purposeful and 

not incidental or fleeting." United States v. IBT, 824 F. Supp. 

410, 414 (S.D.N.Y. 1993), aff'd, DiGirlamo, 19 F.3d 816. 

"Purposeful contacts are prohibited even if no illegal purpose 

is demonstrated^, and pjurposeful contact may occur in either a 

business or social setting." Id. (internal citations omitted). 

Knowing association may be inferred from the "duration and 

quality" of the association. United States v. IBT ("Senese & 

^ Even though this Court has the limited responsibility of 
reviewing the IRB's decision under the ^arbitrary and 
capricious' standard, the Court has nonetheless undertaken to 
evaluate Kikes' LMRDA claim. 
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Talerico"), 745 F. Supp. 908, 918 (S.D.N.Y. 1990), aff'd, 941 

F.2d 1292 (2d Cir. 1991). 

For purposes of the Consent Decree's associational ban, a 

person is considered to have been "enjoined from participating 

in union affairs" if he is either subject to a court order 

enjoining his participation in the affairs of the IBT or another 

union, see United States v. Mason Tenders District Council, 205 

F. Supp. 2d 183, 190 (S.D.N.Y. 2002), or if he was permanently 

barred from membership in the IBT "pursuant to the disciplinary 

process established in the [CJonsent [Djecree," United States 

v. IBT, ("Sombrotto"), 266 F.3d 45, 51 (2d Cir. 2001). The ban 

applies by its terms to current IBT members (IBT Decision at 5), 

and the IRB and the Union may enforce the ban by bringing 

disciplinary charges for violation of the IBT Constitution 

against members who knowingly associate with a prohibited person 

(see id. at 16). 

Kikes does not dispute the evidence that he knowingly 

contacted Hogan following Hogan's May 29, 2002 expulsion from 

the IBT. (See, e.g., id. at 5 (". . . Kikes does not contest 

[]at least twenty instances of Kikes' intentional, non-

incidental association (contact) with Hogan after Hogan had been 

barred from the IBT.").) Further, the panel specifically found 

that Kikes' testimony regarding his lack of knowledge of Hogan's 

bar was not credible. (See id. at 14 ("After evaluating all of 
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the reliable evidence, the Panel finds that Kikes' testimony on 

[his] ^lack of notice' and his ^lack of knowledge' about Hogan's 

bar . . . is simply not credible.") (emphasis in original).) 

In addition, there was other evidence that demonstrated 

Kikes' pre-2004 knowledge of Hogan's expulsion. (See id. at 13 

(citing, inter alia, a notification of Hogan's bar published in 

Teamster magazine and a New York Times article as circumstantial 

evidence that Kikes knew Hogan was barred).) For example, Kikes 

testified that when he saw Hogan in November 2003, he made a 

cross with his index fingers to indicate "stay away, kind of 

like the cross with the Dracula thing." (Id. at 10.) He 

nonetheless telephoned Hogan on December 11, 2003, and spoke to 

him for 16 minutes. (Id. at 15.) Accordingly, the Court finds 

it was not arbitrary or capricious for the IRB to uphold the 

Panel's finding that Kikes had knowingly associated with Hogan 

after Hogan was expelled from the Union. 

B. The Sanction Imposed on Kikes Is Not Arbitrary or 
Capricious 

Kikes asserts that his permanent bar should be overturned 

because (i) the IBT panel mischaracterized the Bernstein 

decision when it stated that the decision mandates a permanent 

bar for any member who knowingly associates with an expelled 

member; and (ii) another IBT member, Jerry T. Vincent, received 
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a lighter sanction for the same conduct. (See Kikes Br. at 16-

17.) These arguments are without merit. 

It is well settled that a "district court reviews penalties 

imposed by the IBT in accordance with the Consent Decree under 

an ^arbitrary and capricious' standard." Boggia, 167 F.3d at 

120. In reviewing an IRB sanction, this Court asks only whether 

the sanction actually imposed represents an "allowable judgment" 

in the choice of the remedy. United States v. IBT ("Wilson, 

Dickens, Weber"), 978 F.2d 68, 73 (2d Cir. 1992) (internal 

citation omitted). "[T]he reviewing court should not overturn 

the . . . choice of sanction[] unless it finds the penalty 

unwarranted in law or without justification in fact." Simpson, 

120 F.3d at 348 (citing Wilson, Dickens, Weber, 978 F.2d at 73); 

see also United States v. IBT ("Bane"), No. 88 Civ. 4486, 2002 

WL 654128, at +16 (S.D.N.Y. 2002) ("The relevant inquiry with 

respect to an IRB sanction is not whether the Court agrees or 

disagrees with it but rather is limited to whether the IRB made 

an allowable judgment in its choice of remedy.") (internal 

citation omitted), aff'd, 59 Fed. Appx. 424 (2d Cir. Mar. 13, 

2003). 

Neither of Kikes' arguments warrant a reversal of the 

sanction against him. It is undisputed that permanent expulsion 

from the IBT represents an "allowable judgment" in the choice of 

sanction because it is expressly authorized by the IBT 
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Constitution. See Boggia, 167 F.3d at 120 (rejecting challenge 

to permanent expulsion; "There is no dispute that the IBT 

Constitution provides that a member may be stripped of 

membership rights if found guilty of misconduct."); Carey & 

Hamilton, 247 F.3d at 390 (rejecting challenge to permanent 

expulsion; "[T]he penalty has a basis in the IBT rules and the 

Consent Decree."); Senese & Talerico, 745 F. Supp. at 919 ("it 

is well within the power of the Independent Administrator to 

impose lifetime suspension") (citing Section 101(a)(5) of the 

LMRDA, 29 U.S.C. 411(a)(5)). Accordingly, the choice of 

sanction here was not "unwarranted in law." Simpson, 120 F.3d 

at 348. Nor was the sanction without justification in fact 

since the IBT panel found that Kikes knowingly associated with 

Hogan after Hogan's expulsion from the IBT. (IBT Decision at 5, 

14.) 

Kikes' argument that his sanction should be overturned 

because it is disproportionate when compared to that of another 

IBT member is without merit. As this Court has specifically 

held, "it is well established that sanctions given in other 

cases are not relevant to the Court's inquiry as to whether a 

particular sanction is unwarranted or without justification." 

Bane, 2002 WL 654128, at *16 (citing United States v. IBT 

("Giacumbo"), 170 F.3d 136, 144 (2d Cir. 1999) ("Uneven 

application of sanctions does not normally render the sanction 
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imposed in a particular case arbitrary and capricious.")). 

Accordingly, the Court finds that it was not arbitrary or 

capricious for the IRB to find the sanction imposed against 

Kikes by the IBT "not inadequate." 

C. Kikes Has Not Established an LMRDA Violation 

Finally, Kikes asserts he was deprived of a "full and fair 

hearing" guaranteed him by Section 101(5) of the LMRDA because 

the IBT panel that heard the charges against him was "biased and 

the outcome was predetermined well before the hearing." (Kikes 

Br. at 1.) Section 101(5)(C) of the LMRDA "does not require 

that union disciplinary hearings incorporate the specific 

protections associated with judicial proceedings, including the 

right to be represented by counsel and the technical rules of 

pleading, procedure, and evidence." Frye v. United Steelworkers 

of Am., 767 F.2d 1216, 1224 (7th Cir.), cert, denied, 474 U.S. 

1007 (1985). Rather, courts should intervene in union 

disciplinary actions under section 101(a)(5) "only if there has 

been a breach of fundamental fairness." Carey & Hamilton 

Discipline, 22 F. Supp. 2d at 143 (quoting Ritz v. O'Donnell, 

566 F.2d 731, 737 (D.C. Cir. 1977)). 

In order to assert an LMRDA claim based on bias, 

"plaintiffs must make specific factual allegations of bias that 

show that the panelists were incapable of hearing plaintiffs' 
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case impartially." Yager v. Carey, 910 F. Supp. 704, 715 

(D.D.C. 1995). A court may find a union panel biased "only upon 

a demonstration that it has been substantially actuated by 

improper motives." Id. (quoting Parks v. Int'l Brotherhood Of 

Elec. Workers, 314 F.2d 886, 913 (4th Cir. 1963), cert, denied, 

372 U.S. 976 (1963)). 

Kikes fails to meet this burden because his assertions of 

bias amount to mere speculation and conclusions. For example, 

Kikes asserts that Rome Aloise ("Aloise"), Assistant to the IBT 

General President, "interfered" with his witnesses by preventing 

them from testifying at his hearing. (See, e.g., Kikes Br. at 

8-9.) However, Kikes concedes that three witnesses did testify 

on his behalf at the hearing. (Id. at 9.) Further, Kikes' only 

evidence of a specific instance of alleged interference is a 

telephone call from Aloise to Rick Middleton, President of 

Teamsters Local 572, in August 2005. See Id. However, Mr. 

Middleton subsequently appeared as a witness on Kikes' behalf. 

(See IBT Decision at 11-12 (discussing testimony of Rick 

Middleton and Kikes' two other witnesses).) 

Kikes alleges that Aloise "was observed talking at length" 

with one of the IBT panel members at a "Change to Win" 

Convention held a few weeks after Kikes' hearing, in violation 

of a hearing notice concerning communication between Panel 

members and interested parties. (Kikes Br. at 10.) However, 

13 



even if Aloise and the panel member were discussing Kikes, which 

Kikes does not allege, Aloise was not an interested party to 

Kikes' disciplinary hearing, and therefore the hearing notice 

was not applicable to him. (See generally IBT Decision at 1-3.) 

Finally, Kikes asserts bias based upon allegations that the 

Panel hired as counsel a "union-busting, management lawyer" who 

allegedly took an "unusually active role" in advising the Panel. 

(Kikes Br. at 2, 15.) These allegations amount to mere 

conclusory assertions which fall far short of the "specific 

factual allegations of bias" required for this Court to find a 

LMRDA violation. (See Kikes Br. at 14-15.) Accordingly, this 

Court finds Kikes has not established a LMRDA violation. 

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons described above, the IRB's decision is 

affirmed in all respects, and Application 121 is granted. 

SO ORDERED: 

Dated: New York, New York 
August 7, 2007 
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